IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DOYAL POWELL ROBERTS,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.



BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

MICHAEL E. ALLEN PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

P. DOUGLAS BRINKMEYER ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR #197890 POST OFFICE BOX 671 TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32302 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner was the defendant in the trial court and the appellant in the lower tribunal. The parties will be referred to as they appear before this Court. A six volume record on appeal, including transcripts from petitioner's direct appeal, will be referred to as "R" followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses. A two volume supplemental transcript, containing the resentencing hearing of December 14, 1987, and the original sentencing hearing of May 6, 1985, will be referred to as "T". Attached hereto as an appendix is the opinion of the lower tribunal. Emphasis is added unless otherwise noted.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

By information filed November 2, 1984, petitioner was charged with sexual battery and burglary (R 15-16). After jury trial, petitioner was convicted of sexual battery with the threat of great force and burglary of a dwelling with assault (R 77-78). On May 6, 1985, petitioner was adjudicated guilty by Circuit Judge Elzie S. Sanders and sentenced to concurrent terms of 27 years in prison, which were the most available under the guidelines range of 22-27 years (R 83-90; T 46).

On direct appeal, petitioner did not challenge his sentence and his argument concerning a trial error was rejected (R 772-73); <u>Roberts v. State</u>, 491 So.2d 1147 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986). Petitioner then filed a motion to correct his sentences, alleging that his scoresheet was incorrect (R 789-91). Petitioner, pro se, prevailed on appeal, and the lower tribunal ordered that the scoresheet be corrected and petitioner resentenced (R 857-62); <u>Roberts v. State</u>, 507 So.2d 761 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987). Judge Sanders subsequently disqualified himself (R 871).

A new guidelines scoresheet was prepared, which called for 17-22 years (R 888). The state requested that the court depart from the new guidelines range (R 873-83). Petitioner appeared for resentencing on December 14, 1987, before Circuit Judge Nath Doughtie. The victim, **Constant of the set of th**

23-24). Petitioner was resentenced to the same 27 years, with credit for all time served (R 885-86; T 24-25). The court entered a written order, imposing the same sentences as Judge Sanders (R 890-94).

On a subsequent appeal to the First District, petitioner argued that he could not receive the same sentences, 27 years, now as departures from 17-22 years, because the original sentencing judge saw no reason to depart. The lower tribunal disagreed, but certified conflict with <u>Harrison v. State</u>, 523 So.2d 726 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1988).

On December 15, 1988, a timely notice of discretionary review was filed.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Petitioner will argue in this brief that the successor sentencing judge should not have entered departure sentences when the original prosecutor and sentencing judge saw no reason to depart from the recommended guidelines range, even though that range was reduced as a result of petitioner's successful pro se attack on his scoresheet. The situation is no different from that which occurs when a defendant successfully attacks all of the reasons for departure. Petitioner is being unfairly penalized for winning his pro se attack on his scoresheet.

ARGUMENT

THE LOWER TRIBUNAL INCORRECTLY HELD THAT PETITIONER COULD RECEIVE THE SAME 27 YEAR SENTENCES AS GUIDELINES DEPARTURE SENTENCES AFTER HIS SCORESHEET WAS CORRECTED AND THE RECOMMENDED RANGE LOWERED.

At his original sentencing hearing, petitioner received guidelines sentences, rather than departure sentences, for these two crimes. The original prosecutor repeatedly stated that he saw no reason to depart from the guidelines:

> We're not going to ask the Court to sentence Doyle Roberts to a period of incarceration as a habitual felony offender. But the fact remains that the PSI officer who has done the investigation in this case has reviewed this defendant's background, spoken to law enforcement officers, spoken to family and friends, and other people, and she concludes that the defendant in this case should be sentenced to the maximum period of time recommended by the sentencing guidelines which in this case is 27 years. (T 37).

> So, I would urge the court not to deviate from the guideline recommended sentence of 22-27 years, but instead to sentence him to a period of time that's consistent with the guideline recommendation taking into consideration the seriousness of the crimes as well as his criminal history. (T 40-41). * *

I would ask the court to follow the guidelines recommended sentencing to the period of time in the Department of Corrections for a period of 22 to 27 years followed by a period of probation consecutive to that for the rest of his natural life, so this court would have some control over this man. (T 43).

The trial judge also saw no reason to depart from the guidelines range (T 46). The next judge, apparently believing

that 27 years was the perfect sentence for these two crimes, reimposed them as a departure. This was error.

Although research has not disclosed any case directly on point, the recent opinion in <u>Shull v. Dugger</u>, 515 So.2d 748 (Fla. 1987) is instructive.

In <u>Shull</u>, the defendant was sentenced as a habitual offender to a departure sentence when some courts believed such was proper. His sentence was affirmed on direct appeal. <u>Shull</u> <u>v. State</u>, 481 So.2d 1294 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986). When the Supreme Court finally had the opportunity in <u>Whitehead v. State</u>, 498 So.2d 863 (Fla. 1987) to hold that habitual offender was not a valid reason to depart, Shull filed a motion for postconviction relief, arguing that he should get the benefit of <u>Whitehead</u>. The lower tribunal agreed, but certified the question. <u>Shull v. State</u>, 512 So.2d 1021 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987).

Since the state did not pursue the certified question, and because the mandate had been stayed, Shull filed a habeas corpus petition in the Supreme Court. The state agreed that the habitual offender reason for departure was invalid, but suggested the the sentencing judge should be allowed to formulate new reasons to justify the departure sentence. This Court disagreed:

> We see no reason for making an exception to the general rule requiring resentencing within the guidelines merely because the illegal departure was based upon only one valid reason rather than several. We believe the better policy requires the trial court to articulate all of the reasons for departure in the original order. To hold otherwise may needlessly

subject the defendant to unwarranted efforts to justify the original sentence and also might lead to absurd results. One can envision numerous resentencings as, one by one, reasons are rejected in multiple appeals. Thus, we hold that a trial court may not enunciate new reasons for a departure sentence after the reasons given for the original departure sentence have been reversed by an appellate court.

Shull v. Dugger, supra, 515 So.2d at 750.

Much of what the court said in <u>Shull</u> is applicable to appellant. Because his scoresheet was inflated one cell, petitioner received a de facto departure sentence in his first sentencing hearing. The only difference between Mr. Shull and petitioner is that petitioner received a departure sentence that no one knew was a departure, whereas Mr. Shull received a departure that everyone knew was a departure, although it turned out to be an illegal one. Petitioner is being subjected to the same "unwarranted efforts" to justify his sentences.

If an incorrect scoresheet can be equated with an illegal departure reason, the result must be the same, i.e., the court upon discovering the error is bound by what occurred at the original sentencing hearing. Since the original prosecutor and judge saw no reason to depart, the second judge should not have been allowed to make up new reasons for departure, even though no one thought any reasons were necessary to justify the 27 year sentences when they were imposed.

The recent case of <u>Harrison v. State</u>, 523 So.2d 726 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1988) interprets <u>Shull</u> in a manner consistent with petitioner's position. There the defendant was sentenced to 22

years in state prison in accord with an elevated violation of probation scoresheet. The scoresheet was incorrect because points were assessed in the primary offense and victim injury sections for an offense for which the defendant was not on probation. The corrected scoresheet resulted in a lower recommended range, and so the state argued that the judge should be able to impose the same sentence as a departure. The court disagreed:

The thrust, if not the precise holding of <u>Shull</u> [supra] precludes what would be an initial attempt to enter a departure sentence after a prior sentence has, as we do here, been deemed inappropriate on appeal.

Id. at 727. The same is true in the instant case.

The cases relied upon by the lower tribunal are not persuasive. In <u>Waldron v. State</u>, 529 So.2d 772 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1988), the Second District granted rehearing en banc and receded from its prior decision in <u>Teaford v. State</u>, 524 So.2d 1162 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1988). In <u>Teaford</u>, the defendant was sentenced on a violation of probation to three years in prison, followed by 18 months community control, on a scoresheet which called for 2 1/2 to 3 1/2 years. Because this combination constituted a departure, the court reversed and directed the imposition of a guidelines sentence.

Two months later, the court sat en banc in <u>Waldron</u>, which also involved a violation of probation with a similar illegal combination of prison and community control, and held that the judge should be able to depart once that combination is deemed

to be illegal. <u>Waldron</u> is distinguishable from the instant case, because petitioner was not being sentenced on a violation of probation and his sentence was not an illegal combination of prison and community control.

In addition, the Third District's view in <u>Harrison</u> makes far more sense, especially in light of this Court's recent decision in <u>Smith v. State</u>, 13 FLW 703 (Fla. December 8, 1988). There the defendant had been sentenced to six years as a departure from the scoresheet's range of 3 1/2 to 4 1/2 years. While he successfully attacked all of the reasons for departure on appeal, he was convicted of five more robberies. When he appeared for resentencing on the original charge, his scoresheet factored in the five additional robberies and called for life in prison, which the judge imposed. This Court held:

> Equity compels us to vacate Smith's life sentence and remand the case for sentencing within the original range of three and one-half to four and one-half If Smith had been properly senyears. tenced in the initial proceeding, he would not be facing life imprisonment. To sustain the life sentence would be to punish Smith for the trial court's mistakes. The more equitable result is to place him in the position he would have been in absent the court's error. This is consistent with the rule espoused in Shull [supra].

Id. The same is true in the instant case. If petitioner's scoresheet had been prepared correctly, he would never have received 27 year sentences.

The lower tribunal also erroneously relied upon <u>Chaplin v.</u> State, 473 So.2d 842 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985), approved, State v.

<u>Chaplin</u>, 490 So.2d 52 (Fla. 1986). In that case, the defendant successfully attacked his scoresheet in the District Court, and his recommended sentence range was reduced from 9-12 years to 7-9 years. The District Court advised the trial court it could depart from the new range if it so chose, because:

> there remains the possibility that had the trial judge been confronted with the correct guidelines range, he would have imposed a sentence outside the guidelines. We note at sentencing, the trial judge expressed the view that the guidelines range of 9-12 years was "substantially low," given appellant's crimes. Obviously then, when faced with an even lower range, the trial judge might wish to consider whether a departure should be ordered.

Id., 473 So.2d at 844. Here, there is no such possibility. As shown by the comments of the prosecutor at the original sentencing hearing, quoted at page 5 of this brief, neither he nor the original sentencing judge saw any reason to depart from the guidelines. The judge, unlike the judge in <u>Chaplin</u>, made no comments to question the inadequacy of the recommended guidelines range.¹ The victim had no particular sentencing recommendation. The distinction between petitioner and Mr. Chaplin is obvious.

¹Back in 1984, the salad days of the guidelines, many judges thought it was proper to depart because the recommended guidelines range was: "manifestly not sufficient to provide the appropriate retribution, deterrence, or time for rehabilitation", <u>Mincey v. State</u>, 460 So.2d 396, 398 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984); or because the range was: "insufficient for retribution, deterrence, rehabilitation and for the safety of the public", <u>Scott v. State</u>, 492 So.2d 448, 449 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986), reversed in part, 508 So.2d 335 (Fla. 1987).

The resentencing judge should not be permitted to make up new reasons for departure since none was stated at the initial sentencing hearing. This Court must reverse.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing argument, reasoning, and citation of authority, petitioner requests that this Court vacate the 27 year sentences and direct the imposition of no more than 22 years, with credit for all time served.