### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DOYAL POWELL ROBERTS,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 73,439

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

SID J. WHITE

JAN 12 1989 /

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Deputy Clerk

### BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

EDWARD C. HILL, JR. ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR #238041

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

###

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, Doyal Powell Roberts, Appellant below and defendant in the trial court, will be referred to herein as "Petitioner." Respondent, the State of Florida, will be referred to herein as "the State" or "Respondent." References to the record on appeal will be by the symbol "R" followed by the appropriate page number.

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent is in substantial agreement with Petitioner's version of the case and facts.

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Respondent argues that this Court in <u>Chaplin</u> has already given the trial courts the appropriate guidance for resentencing defendants whose initial scoresheet was incorrectly calculated. Further, the rationale of <u>Chaplin</u>, as adopted by the majority of the district courts of appeal, is consistent with the concept that the public and the defendant are entitled to have the trial judge make a <u>fully informed</u> sentencing decision based on <u>accurate</u> information.

#### ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE

THE LOWER COURT DID NOT ERR IN IMPOSING THE TWENTY-SEVEN YEAR SENTENCE AS A DEPARTURE FROM THE RECOMMENDED RANGE.

Petitioner argues that it was not proper for the trial court to depart on resentencing when the original sentence was within the recommended range. He is wrong.

The First District Court of Appeal has a series of cases beginning with <u>Davis v. State</u>, 493 So.2d 82 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986), and culminating in the instant case and <u>Brown v. State</u>, 13 F.L.W. 2677 (Fla. 1st DCA, Dec. 16, 1988), has consistently held that in order for a trial court to make a meaningful sentencing decision included as decision as to the appropriateness of departure, an accurate scoresheet is necessary. The position of the First District is correct and has been explicitly approved by this Court in <u>State v. Chaplin</u>, 490 So.2d 52 (Fla. 1986).

In <u>Chaplin v. State</u>, 473 So.2d 842 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985), the First District Court of Appeal was confronted with a post-conviction relief petitioner who alleged errors in the calculation of his guidelines scoresheet. The court allowed the challenge; concluded that the points needed to be revised downward but remanded the case to the trial court for it to exercise its sentencing authority and for it to determine whether to resentence the defendant within the new lower recommended range or to depart.

The State appealed this decision to the Florida Supreme Court. The Florida Supreme Court in State v. Chaplin, supra, held that the lower court correctly decided the issue. This Court stated, "We approve the result reached by the district court below" and added this footnote:

We agree with the district court that respondent is entitled to have his guidelines score sheet correctly calculated and, similarly, that the trial court should be given an opportunity to consider whether departure from the guidelines should be ordered. 473 So.2d at 844.

Thus the issue presented by this appeal, the appropriateness of the trial court imposing a departure sentence after a reversal based on the use of an incorrect scoresheet, has been decided. The <u>Chaplin</u> case is exactly on point and should be followed.

The case relied upon by the Petitioner, <u>Shull v. Dugger</u>, 515 So.2d 748 (Fla. 1987), did not change this Court's prior ruling in <u>Chaplin</u>, supra, because the situational facts are totally different.

In <u>Shull</u>, supra, the original sentence was a departure sentence for which the trial court assigned a reason. The holding of <u>Shull</u> was when a sole reason for departure was determined to be invalid, the trial court was not allowed to go back into the record and find new reasons. The original sentence in the instant case was within the recommended range as

determined by the court at sentencing. Since no departure took place, no reason was assigned or needed to be assigned, because all parties believed a recommended range sentence was being given.

The reasoning of <u>Shull</u>, supra, was based on policy. It requires trial courts to put all their reasons for departure in their first departure order. <u>Shull</u> was decided to prevent deliberate manipulation of the sentencing system by a trial judge. Without a <u>Shull</u>-type decision a sentencing judge, who had six reasons for departure, could theoretically issue a departure sentence, use one reason, and reserve the remaining reasons to be used one at a time if the original reason was later held to be invalid. To avoid this possibility of abuse of discretion, the court in <u>Shull</u> required all reasons to be placed in the <u>initial departure order</u>.

Petitioner argues that <u>Harrison v. State</u>, 523 So.2d 726 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988), should be followed but ignores the opinions of the other District Courts of Appeal, which have ruled on this issue.

The Fifth District Court of Appeal in the case of <u>Dyer v.</u>

<u>State</u>, 13 F.L.W. 2612 (Fla. 5th DCA Dec. 9, 1988), has adopted the position of the First District Court of Appeal on this issue. In <u>Dyer</u> the court held that a trial judge, who thought he was entering a guideline sentence, can depart on remand.

The Second District Court of Appeal had occasion to review this issue en banc in the case of <u>Waldron v. State</u>, 529 So.2d 772 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988). In <u>Waldron</u> the Second District held <u>Shull</u>, supra, does not prevent a trial judge from using a departure sentence on remand, when the original sentence was not a departure. In ruling this way the court indicated that it was going to adopt as controlling the rationale of <u>Daughtry v.</u> State, 521 So.2d 208 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988).

Interestingly, the Third District Court of Appeal, which issued Harrison, supra (upon which Petitioner relies), has also issued State v. Wayda, 13 F.L.W. 2850 (Fla. 3d DCA, Dec. 2, 1988). In Wayda the court held that a downward departure not supported by reasons was to be remanded to the court to give reasons or sentence within the guidelines. In Wayda the Third District cited Daughtry, supra, as authority. Clearly, the Third District itself is divided for Wayda conflicts with Harrison.

Petitioner asserts <u>Riley Smith v. State</u>, 13 F.L.W. 703 (Fla. Dec. 8, 1988), support his position. He is wrong. Smith initially received a departure sentence for which the trial court assigned reasons. The district court rejected the reasons as invalid and remanded for resentencing. Thus on resentencing <u>Smith</u> was in the classic <u>Shull</u> posture of having had a departure sentence with the reasons being found invalid. This is not the posture of the Petitioner.

Respondent rejects Petitioner's inference that the state attorney approved of a guideline sentence in the abstract. The quotes in Petitioner's brief (p. 5) establish the prosecutor approved of the specific guideline sentence of twenty-two to twenty-seven years. The prosecutor never inferred that had the recommended range been lower he would not have sought a departure sentence.

Petitioner is in a posture analogous to a defendant who received a departure sentence without reasons being assigned. In that instance the case is remanded for the court to state its reasons or to resentence within the guideline recommended range.

In order for the spirit of the guidelines to be fulfilled, the trial court must make a fully informed sentencing decision. In order to make such a decision the trial court must have an accurate guideline scoresheet. Only if he has all the information can he make a fully informed decision as to the appropriateness of a departure sentence. The people of the State of Florida and the defendant are entitled to no less.

Therefore, the opinion of the First District Court of Appeal in the instant case should be affirmed and the opinion of the Third District Court of Appeal in Harrison quashed.

#### CONCLUSION

Based on the above cited legal authorities, Respondent prays this Honorable Court affirm the judgment rendered in this case.